II.

II1.

IV.

Florida National Register Review Board
Mission San Luis, Mission Room
Tallahassee, Florida
May 2, 2024
Meeting Minutes

Board Members Present In-Person: Kathleen Kauffman (vice chair) and Dr. Judith Bense.

Board Members Present Via Webinar: Rick Gonzalez (chair), Dr. J. Michael Francis and Dr.
Clifford Smith.

Florida Department of State Officials and Staff Present In-Person: Alissa Lotane, Division
Director, Historical Resources; Ruben Acosta, Chief, Bureau of Historic Preservation; Dr. Kyra
Lucas, Supervisor, Survey and Registration; Andrew Waber, Historian; Sam Schmidt, Historic
Preservationist; Anthony Mendez, Historic Preservationist; and Jeremy Heiker, State Historical
Marker Coordinator.

Florida Department of State Officials and Staff Present Via Webinar: Vincent Birdsong,
Supervisor, Florida Master Site File; Jon Morris, Deputy General Counsel; and April Kirk,
Executive Director, Mission San Luis.

Guests Present In-Person: Dr. Andrea Oliver, Madison County Training School (MCTS)
nomination author; Dr. David Proctor, supporter, MCTS nomination; Robert L. Holmes,
supporter, MCTS nomination; Patricia Holmes, supporter, MCTS nomination; Dr. Ray Mobley,
supporter MCTS nomination; Ms. Mobley, supporter, MCTS nomination; Ms. Garfield,
supporter, MCTS nomination; and Dexter Williams, legislative aide to Representative Allison
Tant to support the MCTS nomination.

Guests Present Via Webinar: Dave Baber, St. Paul Lutheran Church nomination author; Reverand
Ashely Nichols, pastor, St. Paul Lutheran Church; Susanne H. Hunt; and Lorrie Muldowney.

Call to Order and Roll Call:
Mr. Rick Gonzalez called the meeting to order at 1:32 pm. Dr. Kyra Lucas called the roll and
confirmed quorum.

Introduction of Board, Staff and Guests:
Mr. Gonzalez asked that the board, staff and guests introduce themselves. Mr. Jeremy Heiker
read the names of all staff and guests attending via webinar.

Adoption of Agenda:
Mr. Gonzalez called for a motion to adopt the agenda. Ms. Kathleen Kauffman moved to
adopt. Dr. Clifford Smith seconded. The board approved the agenda unanimously.

Remarks by Chairperson on Purpose of Meeting:

Mr. Gonzalez thanked staff and colleagues.



VL

VIL

Approval of Minutes from the February 6, 2024, Meeting:

Mr. Gonzalez called for a motion. Dr. Judith Bense moved to approve the minutes from
the February 2024 National Register Review Board Meeting. Ms. Kauffman seconded.
The board approved the meeting minutes unanimously.

Director’s Comments:

Ms. Alissa Lotane expressed gratitude to the board and staff and announced that the re-
thatching of the Mission San Luis Council House was complete and it would soon be re-
opened to the public.

Review of Nomination Proposals:

Before beginning staff comments, Dr. Lucas requested the board allow late in-person arrivals
to the meeting to introduce themselves. Mr. Gonzalez agreed.

A. Madison County Training School, Madison County
Dr. Lucas presented staff comments with a visual presentation.

Staff recommended that the board forward the nomination for Madison County Training
School to the National Park Service with a recommendation for listing in the National
Register of Historic Places under Criteria A and B in the areas of Education and Ethnic
Heritage: Black and under Criterion C for Architecture at the local level of significance
between 1951 and 1970 and under the registration criteria prescribed in the Florida’s Historic
Black Public Schools MPS, Property Type F.1: Black Public Schools.

Mr. Gonzalez asked what percentage of the buildings have significant structural damage. Dr.
Lucas clarified that approximately 10% of the buildings were deteriorated and the damage
was concentrated in the Library and Administration buildings. Dr. Lucas noted that staff were
unable to photograph more intact interior spaces.

Mr. Gonzalez asked what the community intended to do with the property. Dr. Ray Mobley
explained the community intends to restore the campus for use as a cultural center. Mr.
Gonzalez expressed concern about the degree of deterioration. Dr. Andrea Oliver explained
the community maintained the buildings to the best of their abilities with limited resources.
Dr. Lucas clarified that National Register eligibility is based on age, significance and
integrity, not development plans. Dr. Smith noted that future plans may incentivize
restoration.

Ms. Kauffman noted that many Madison community members traveled to the meeting and
stated that she would like to hear their comments. Dr. Mobley introduced himself as an
MCTS alumnus and explained that the importance of the campus to Madsion’s Black
community could not be overstated. He clarified that the campus fell into disrepair while
under private ownership, when the community was not granted access. Dr. Oliver discussed
prior efforts to preserve the site, including the installation of a Florida Historical Marker and
purchasing parts of the campus. Ms. Garfield introduced herself as a MCTS alumna and
explained that her family donates a significant amount of resources to maintaining the



campus. Mr. Robert Holmes introduced himself as a MCTS alumnus and former Madison
Middle School teacher. He explained that the community was very proud of MCTS’s
graduates and noted that even his young students are interested in helping revitalize the
campus.

Dr. Bense noted that this board has voted in favor of listing buildings in much worse
condition before and that listing is a springboard for obtaining funding. She asked for more
information about the community’s plans. Dr. Oliver passed out brochures and explained that
they hoped to create a community center that would house local archives, cultural event
spaces, and a vocational school. Dr. Bense asked how the private owners feel about the
redevelopment plans. Dr. Mobley explained the community was trying to buy the rest of the
property. Dr. Oliver clarified that the community currently owns every building except the

Ms. Alissa Lotane stated that there is significant community support and clarified that for the
purposes of the National Register, evaluation is based on historic integrity, not condition. Dr.
David Proctor noted that Black community colleges were incredibly important and that their
history needs to be preserved and shared.

Dr. Smith stated that he supports the nomination and hopes the community is able to acquire
grants so they can re-open the campus as a school. Mr. Gonzalez agreed that returning the
campus to its original use is a great form of preservation. Dr. Michael Francis clarified the
period of significance and thanked the meeting guests for sharing their passionate support.

Mr. Gonzalez called for a motion. Ms. Kauffman moved to forward the nomination for
Madison County Training School to the National Park Service with a recommendation
for listing in the National Register of Historic Places under Criteria A and B in the areas
of Education and Ethnic Heritage: Black and under Criterion C for Architecture at the
local level of significance between 1951 and 1970 and under the registration criteria
prescribed in the Florida’s Historic Black Public Schools MPS, Property Type F.1:
Black Public Schools. Dr. Smith seconded. The board passed the motion unanimously.

Mr. Gonzalez called for a ten-minute recess at 2:37 pm. The meeting resumed at 2:50 pm.

B. St. Paul Lutheran Church, Sarasota County

Dr. Smith recused himself from this discussion and vote because of his role as city planner
and coordinator of the City of Sarasota Certified Local Government.

Dr. Lucas presented staff comments with a visual presentation.

Staff recommended that the board forward the nomination for the St. Paul Lutheran Church
to the National Park Service with a recommendation for listing in the National Register of
Historic Places under Criterion C for Architecture with a local level of significance spanning
from 1959 to 1969 and under the criteria prescribed in the Architectural Resources of the
Sarasota School of Architecture MPS.



Mr. Gonzalez stated that this property is significant for its architecture, its construction as a
master site plan, and as an exceptional example of Victor Lundy’s work. Mr. Gonzalez
solicited further board comment. Ms. Kauffman noted that the use of tension cables was
unique and Mr. Gonzalez agreed.

Mr. Gonzalez solicited public comment. Mr. Dave Baber elaborated on how the church
complex fit in Lundy’s larger body of work, noting that the unique suspension cables were
influenced by the bridges and architecture Lundy saw during his time in New York City. Mr.
Gonzalez, Mr. Baber, and Dr. Lucas discussed the way the roof design filled the sanctuary
with natural light and emphasized the church altar. Reverand Ashley Nichols discussed her
congregation’s great pride in their church buildings and dedication to preserving them. She
noted that the church frequently opens the buildings to public visitors.

Mr. Gonzalez called for a motion. Ms. Kauffman moved to forward the nomination for
the St. Paul Lutheran Church to the National Park Service with a recommendation for
listing in the National Register of Historic Places under Criterion C for Architecture
with a local level of significance spanning from 1959 to 1969 and under the criteria
prescribed in the Architectural Resources of the Sarasota School of Architecture MPS.
Dr. Bense seconded. The board passed the motion unanimously.

C. Nils M. and Beverly Schweizer House, Seminole County
Dr. Lucas presented staff comments with a visual presentation.

Staft recommended that the board forward the nomination for the Nils M. and Beverly
Schweizer House to the National Park Service with a recommendation for listing in the
National Register of Historic Places under Criterion C for Architecture at the local level of
significance from 1960 to 1963 and under the criteria prescribed in the Architectural
Resources of the Sarasota School of Architecture MPS.

Mr. Gonzalez solicited board comment. Ms. Kauffman stated that someone needs to do a
survey of Schweizer’s residential work. Dr. Bense asked if Schweizer lived in this house, and
Dr. Lucas clarified that it was Nils Schweizer’s personal residence and that his son still lives
there. Dr. Smith noted that Schweizer’s connection to Wright was fascinating. Dr. Lucas
noted that the original bedroom windows were wood jalousies but were later replaced with
glass. Dr. Francis noted that online resources do not credit Schweizer for his designs in
EPCOT and that it is good that we are highlighting his work here.

Mr. Gonzalez solicited public comment. The public made no comments.

Mr. Gonzalez called for a motion. Dr. Smith moved to forward the nomination for the
Nils M. and Beverly Schweizer House to the National Park Service with a
recommendation for listing in the National Register of Historic Places under Criterion
C for Architecture at the local level of significance from 1960 to 1963 and under the



VIIL

IX.

criteria prescribed in the Architectural Resources of the Sarasota School of
Architecture MPS. Dr. Francis seconded. The board passed the motion unanimously.

Other Business:

Mr. Gonzalez asked if there was other business. Dr. Lucas updated the board on the status of
nominations previously sent to the National Park Service and ongoing staff projects.

Public Comment:

Mr. Gonzalez opened the floor to public comment. The public made no comments.

Motion to Adjourn:

Ms. Kauffman motioned to adjourn. Dr. Smith seconded. The meeting adjourned at
3:48 pm.

Chair, NR Review Board:

Date:

State Historic Preservation Officer:

Date:




